United Nations AJc.asasre

N
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 21 December 1999
S 27 2 English

7 Official Records Original: Russian

Special Political and Decolonization Committee (Fourth Committee)

Summary record of the 9th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 13 October 1999, at 10 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Zackheos . . ... .. (Cyprus)

Contents

Agenda item 89: Report of the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices
Affecting the Human Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of the
Occupied Territories (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-81580 (E)



A/C.4/54/SR.9

The meeting was called to order at 10.20 a.m.

Agenda item 89: Report of the Special Committee to
Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human
Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of
the Occupied Territories (continued) (A/54/73 and
Add.1, A/54/181, A/54/182, A/54/183, A/54/184,
A/54/185 and A/54/325)

1.  Mr. Osei (Ghana) said that the report of the Special
Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the
Human Rights of the Pal estinian People and Other Arabs
of the Occupied Territories (A/54/325), like the Special
Committee’s previous reports, gave information on the
plight of the Palestinian people and other Arabs in the
occupiedterritoriesresultingfromthepoliciesof thelsraeli
Governmentwhichwerenotinaccordwithinternationally
accepted standards in the field of human rights. He
regrettedthat theviewsof thel sraeli Government werenot
reflected in the report, but said that the information was
no less credible given the wide variety of sources of
information available to the Special Committee.

2. Linkedtothat issue wasthelingering subject of the
comprehensivesettlement of theMiddleEast problem. His
country reiterated its support for the inalienable right of
the Palestinian people to establish an independent,
sovereign State. Mr. Ehud Barak’ svictory intheelections
inlsrael had opened up new prospectsfor peacethroughout
the region. While applauding the bold initiative of the
Israeli leader, soon after assuming office, to resume
dialoguewiththePal estinians, hiscountry urged both sides
to remain on course in their negotiations on the
establishment of durable peace in the region. His
delegation considered the concluding observations and
recommendations of the Committee, particularly thosein
paragraphs 258, 260 and 264, to be very positive.

3. The Specia Committee’s reaffirmation of its
recommendation of 1998 that the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights should take such
measures as were appropriate, in consultation with the
Secretary-General, to establish a system of continuous
communicationtoimprovethecircumstancesof thepeople
of the occupied territories was significant in view of the
needtoreducetensionintheareaand createaclimatethat
wasconduciveto constructivedialogue. Theinternational
community had a duty in that regard to support the
endeavours of the Commissioner for Human Rights to
sustaintheprocessof dialoguewiththelsraeli authorities.

4.  Mr. Wehbe (Syrian Arab Republic) commended the
contentsof thereport of the Special Committee (A/54/325)
which set out reliable, objective and unprejudiced
information. Thereport confirmedthat theactivitiesof the
Special Committee had lost nothing of its relevance.
Moreover, in the present circumstances, its significance
was undoubtedly growing. Any attempt to weakenitsrole
must be construed as an endeavour to distance Israel,
whichwascontinuingtocommit grossviol ationsof human
rights, from criticism by the vigilant international
community. In spite of General Assembly resolution 2443
(XXII11) of 19 December 1968, Israel continued to refuse
to cooperate with the Special Committee; that was hardly
surprising in view of the fact that the Special Committee
provided the international community with truthful
information on the situation in the occupied territories
involving terror, the displacement of populations, the
creationof settlementsandtheexpropriationof land, water
and other natural resources.

5. Israel was enacting laws and taking practical
measures that were needed in order to ensure the
annexation and Judaization of the occupied territories
through settling them with people from various countries
of the world. Despite the opinion of the international
community, Israel was continuing to carry out the
Judai zation of the Golan Heights, to demolish towns, to
destroy agricultural production and expel Syrians from
their homes. All thedisplaced persons, who now numbered
130,000, were entitled to return to their homes without
hindrance. Sincetheseizureof theGolanby I srael in1967,
244 inhabited localities had been destroyed and the
building of settlements, which now numbered 40, was
continuing as before. In spite of resol utions and decisions
proclaiming the principle of “land for peace”, Israel was
holding 96 per cent of the territories of the Golan. One
example of the aggressive policy of Israel inthe occupied
territories was an incident involving five Syrian villages
whoseinhabitants had been deprived of accessto water as
aresult of the building of settlements. It was to be noted
that the lIsraeli authorities generally refused to issue
permits to the local population for the drilling of new
wells. Crippling taxes were imposed on the Arab
population and the Israeli armed forces were deliberately
destroying the environment.

6. Systematic violations of human rights were
continuingintheform of torture, theclosing of territories,
the arbitrary detention of civilians in prisons and
penitentiaries, and theillegal arrest and murder of Arabs.
Samewasal so happeninginother occupiedterritories, for
example, thePalestinianterritories, wherel srael continued



A/C.4/54/SR.9

to conduct itspolicy against the Pal estinian peopleand its
recognized right to create its own State. |srael wanted a
peacecorrespondingtoitsownselfish political aspirations.
Under cover of the rhetoric of peace-making, Israel was
continuing its gross violations of the decisions of the
international community by going ahead with the
completion of thenew settlementsintheGolan. TheGolan
was an inseparable part of the Syrian Arab Republic and
must be returned to its people. A declaration by the
European Union of 27 August 1998 had called on I srael to
put an end to the practice of building settlements in the
Golan. Continuation of that policy cast doubt on whether
Israel wanted to achieve a genuine peace. As the
representatives of the Russian Federation, the United
Kingdom and France had pointed out, the building of
settlementswascontrary tointernational |aw and damaged
the peace process. That practice wasclearly no part of the
culture of peaceto which the Minister for Foreign Affairs
of Israel had spoken in his address to the General
Assembly.

7. Theillegal actions of Israel werealso continuingin
South Lebanon where there had also been massive
violations of the rights of the Arab population. The
international community was entitled to ask whether
attacks, murdersandtheoppression of thelocal population
were factors conducive to the peace process.

8.  Hiscountrywasfirmly resolvedto continueitsefforts
to achieve a genuine and just peace on the basis of the
relevant resolutions of the Security Council and the
principle of “land for peace”. His country called on the
international community to exert pressure on Israel in
order to obligeit to return to real negotiations and to put
an end to the policy it had been conducting in the Golan,
South Lebanon and Palestine. Israel must confirm its
declarations of its commitment to peace by the complete
withdrawal of its forces from all Arab territories, which
would be seen as a genuine display of good will.

9. Mr. Najem (Lebanon) said that the report of the
Special Committee gave a full enough picture of Israeli
activitiesinthe occupied Arabterritories. The occupation
by Israel of the West Bank, the Gaza Strip and the Syrian
Golan Heightssince 1967, aswell the occupation of South
Lebanon and the Bekaa Valley since 1978, had been
accompanied by flagrant violations of the norms of
international law and the provisions of the Geneva
Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons
in Time of War. Those violations included unlawful
confiscation of property, detention of civilians, torture,
expulsions, demolition of the homes of participantsinthe
resistance, closure of schools and universities, and

roadblocks, as well as the continuation of the policy of
annexation and expansi on of settlements. Confiscation of
land and collective punishment were also continuing, as
wasthe practice of giving settlers permitsto build houses
on confiscated land, with homes being demolished on the
pretext that they were constructed without the appropriate
permit.

10. Currently, 20,000 personswereliving in the Syrian
Golan, whereas formerly, at the time of the occupationin
1967, 110,000 persons had lived therein 244 settlements.
The Special Committee had noted the arbitrary measures
taken by the occupation authorities against the Arab
popul ation: imposition of excessively hightaxes, violation
of the sanctity of the home, confiscation of property in
cases of non-payment of taxes, prohibition of the sinking
of wellsby Arabinhabitantsof the Golan, seizure of water
sources, attempts to eliminate the Syrian identity of the
popul ation of the Golanand forced Judai zationthroughthe
introduction in schools of Israeli curricula and the
restriction of access to the Syrian mass media. In the
western part of the Bekaa Valley, Israel also continued to
violate the provisions of the Geneva Conventions and of
Security Council resolution 425 (1978) of 19 March 1978
concerning the immediate and unconditional withdrawal
of Israeli troops from Lebanon.

11. During the previous month, Israeli military aircraft
had mademorethan 300flightsover southernL ebanonand
the western part of the Bekaa Valley. The liberated areas
in the south were continuously subjected to mortar fire,
whichhadleft 139 peopledeadand 110injured. Asaresult
of the land and sea bombardment, 28 homes had been
destroyed and 83 damaged, as well as 60 schools and 54
mosques, proving yet again that Israel was continuing to
pursue a policy of cruel repression and to flout the
elementary norms of international law. It was important
to noteinthat connection that variousweapons prohibited
under international law were being used by the Israeli
forces against the population of southern Lebanon.
Furthermore, inadditiontothoseactsof aggression, I srael
was seizing coastal areas and had forbidden fishermen
from going about their business and earning a living.

12. Inthe light of those facts, the question arose as to
whether Israel had really secured its borders. Israel must
withdraw unconditionally from southern Lebanon, as
stipulated in Security Council resolution 425 (1978) inits
literal sense, rather thanintheinterpretation of thelsraeli
occupiers. Inthat connection, heasked how longthel sraeli
occupierswouldfloutinternational law, disregard thewill
of the international community and reject its resol utions.



A/C.4/54/SR.9

13. Mr. Shafi Sami (Bangladesh) said that thereport of
the Special Committee was comprehensive and
informative, and observedthat inthe occupied Palestinian
and Arab territories|srael continued to pursue apolicy of
settlement, confiscation of land, closures, arrests,
detention, torture and denial of accessto legal recourse.
Such apolicy systematically violated the relevant United
Nations resolutions and international agreements and
treaties, includingthepeacetreaty ontheprincipleof “land
for peace” signed by Palestine and Israel in Oslo. The
construction of settlementsin Jebel AbuGhneimand other
occupied territories was undesirable and gave reason to
doubt Israel’ s sincerity and its commitment to the peace
process.

14. Foreign occupation in itself constituted a flagrant
violation of human rights. Prolonged occupation only
worsened the situation. During the period under review,
I srael had continued systematically toviolatehumanrights
in the occupied territories and to pursue apolicy of using
force to suppress resistance against the occupation.
Furthermore, actionsby individual sweremet with massive
retaliation, which was supplemented by a well-planned
campaign to demoralize the people of the occupied
territories, particularly the Palestinians, with a view to
perpetuatingtheillegal occupationunder variouspretexts.

15. lIsrael continued to conduct its policy of economic
blockade and collective punishment. Often, Israel closed
thePalestinianterritoriesentirely, thereby obstructingthe
movement of personsand goodswithinthe West Bank and
the Gaza Strip, aswell asin the self-rule areaand I srael.
Under the Israeli-Palestinian Interim Agreement on the
West Bank and the Gaza Strip, signed in 1995, the West
Bank and the Gaza Strip were regarded as constituting a
singleterritorial unit. 1srael, however, hadfailedtohonour
the terms of that agreement and was obstructing the
implementation of infrastructure projectsrelated to trade
and other sectorswiththeaimof undermining theeconomy
of the occupied territories, including the self-rule area.

16. Israeli settlement in the occupied territories had
alwaysbeenasourceof tension. It appearedfromthereport
of the Special Committeethat 194 |sraeli settlements had
been establishedintheoccupied Palestinianterritories. In
the West Bank and the Gaza Strip alone, the number of
settlershadrisenfrom 116,400in1993t0175,000in 1998.
Itwasregrettablethat, i nstead of freezingtheconstruction
of settlements and ultimately giving up the plan entirely,
Israel continued to build new settlements, including one
in Jebel Abu Ghneim in East Jerusalem. The completion
of the settlement in Jebel Abu Ghneim would leave the
Arab population of East Jerusalem encircled by Jewish

settlements. That would have serious consequences in
terms of the demographic composition of East Jerusalem.

17. The decision by lIsrael to expand the municipal
boundariesof Jerusalem had been discussedinthe Security
Council in June 1998. The international community had
urged Israel to refrain from implementing that decision,
sincesuch aplanwould contributeto further growth of the
I sraeli population of thecity, whichalready constitutedthe
majority of the city’ sinhabitants. It should be noted that
I srael’ sactionscould createasituationthat might explode
at any time, resulting in significant loss of life among the
Palestinian population.

18. The lIsraeli policy of confiscation of land and
restriction of access to water resources, as well as the
demolition of housesintheoccupied Palestinianand Arab
territories, including the Golan, would in no way bring
peacetotheregion. Hisdelegation strongly condemnedthe
I sraeli policy of systematicviolation of basichumanrights
intheoccupiedterritoriesand reminded | srael that, under
the 1949 Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of
Civilian Persons in Time of War and other relevant
resolutions, it was obliged to guarantee the basic human
rights of the people under its occupation.

19. Incontravention of the Convention on the Rights of
theChild, Israeli practicesintheoccupied Pal estinian and
other Arabterritoriesweredeprivingchildrenof their right
to health, education, freedom of expression and play. In
many instances, schoolchildren were unable to attend
classes because they had to travel through Israeli
settlements, where the inhabitants did not allow
Palestinians the right of passage. The people and
Government of Bangladesh weregravely concerned about
I sraeli practicesintheoccupiedterritories. They expressed
their total solidarity with their Palestinian Arab brothers
and considered that the crucial question facing the people
under Israeli occupation was how to restore their human
dignity, their right to personal property and their freedom
in decision-making. He called on Israel to put an end
immediately to its occupation of Palestine and other Arab
territories and to cooperate fully with the Special
Committee and allow it to investigate the situation of
human rightsin the occupied territories.

20. Hisdelegation fully endorsed the recommendations
of the Special Committee concerning the safeguarding of
thebasic human rights of the Pal estinian people and other
Arabs in the occupied territories and called upon the
international community to continue its efforts to put an
end to the Israeli occupation of Palestine and the other
Arab territories.



A/C.4/54/SR.9

21. Mr. Ba-lsa (Yemen) said it was unfortunate that
Israel continued to deny the members of the Special
Committee permission to visit the occupied territories to
conduct an on-siteinvestigation of thefactsand to obtain
more information on the living conditions of the people
under occupation. It wasno longer possibleto conceal the
facts and the real situation; the whole world knew of the
tragedy and suffering of the population of the occupied
Arab territories. Although the occupying authorities had
attempted to hide and distort the facts, the report of the
Special Committee attested to the deterioration of the
situationintheoccupiedterritories, despitethetalksbeing
held on the prospects for the Middle East peace process.
Israel continued to expand its unlawful settlements,
expropriate land, take over water resources, demolish
homes, change the demographic composition of the
territories, especially Jerusalem, and make use of torture
and collective punishment. Those actions were hardly
conducive to confidence-building or indicative of the
goodwill required to establish a normal climate for the
negotiationsand, ultimately, for the achievement of peace
and stability.

22. In the occupied Syrian Golan and other Arab
territories, Israel continued to commit unlawful acts such
ashumanrightsviolations, attemptsto changethenational
character of theterritories, placement of landmines, refusal
to allow family reunifications and adoption of harsh laws
aimed at the establishment of absol ute control, despitethe
positive developments taking place in the international
sphere. | srael al soresortedto similar measuresinsouthern
L ebanon. It should be noted that the Geneva Conventions
were fully applicable to the occupied Arab territories, as
confirmed by resolutions of the Security Council and the
General Assembly. However, intheabsenceof anobjective
analysis and assessment of the real situation, it was not
possible to clear up misconceptions and make progress.
Individual Statesand theinternational community should
takeresponsibility for ensuring that theresolutionswhich
had been adopted were implemented, and should exert
pressure on the occupying authorities to force them to
comply with the provisions of international instruments.
Otherwise, more victims and further suffering would
inevitably result.

23. In conclusion, he underlined the importance of
issuingdocumentsontimesothat del egationscould review
and comment on them.

24. Mr.Dauséa (Cuba) saidthat, for the Government and
people of Cuba, solidarity with the Pal estinian peopleand
with other Arabsliving in similar situations was a matter
of principleandtook theform of unconditional support for

all their legitimate and inalienable rights. In his
delegation’ sview, thework of the Special Committeewas
increasingly important for the achievement of the
objectives of peacein the Middle East and respect for the
rights of the Pal estinian people. His delegation regretted
that thelsraeli Government continued to deny the Special
Committee access to the occupied territories, since that
situation was undoubtedly detrimental to the Special
Committee’s work. At the current session, as in al
previous years, the Special Committee had provided the
General Assembly with evidence of violations of the most
elemental humanrightsof thePal estinian peopleand other
Arabsintheoccupiedterritories,includinglsraeli policies
of establishing settlements, confiscating land, closing
territories, mistreating prisonersandrevoking permitsfor
residenceinJerusalem. Hisdel egationrenewed itsdemand
for an end to such violations and full respect for all the
rights of the Palestinian people.

25. Cuba, liketherest of the international community,
aspired to find a solution to the problems in the Middle
East and that would not be possible without a definitive
settlement of the question of Pal estine, asthe cornerstone
of such asolution. Oneof themost important i ssuesinthat
connection was the applicability of the Fourth Geneva
Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons
in Timeof War, adoptedin 1949. The Security Council had
repeatedly confirmed the applicability of that Convention
totheoccupiedterritories, including Jerusalem. On 15 July
1999, a Conference of the High Contracting Parties had
beenheldto consider the Convention’ sapplicability tothe
Palestinianterritories. Theparticipantsinthat Conference
had not only reaffirmedthe Convention’ sapplicability, but
also reiterated the need for compliance with all its
provisions in the Palestinian territories under Israeli
occupation.

26. Thel991 Madrid PeaceConferenceandthesigning,
by I srael and the Pal estine Liberation Organization, of the
Declaration of Principles in 1993 had raised hopes for
peace in the Middle East. The subsequent signing of the
WyeRiver Memorandum had revived those hopes, and for
a moment the solution to the question of Palestine had
seemed closer than ever before. However, countless
obstacles had been put in the way of peace, such as the
establishment of new settlements, the violation of
Jerusalem’s international status and violations of the
human rights of the Palestinian people, which had again
confirmed the Israeli authorities' reluctance to move
forward with the Middle East peace process. On 4
September 1999, Yasser Arafat and the Israeli Prime
Minister, Ehud Barak, had signed the Sharm el-Sheikh



A/C.4/54/SR.9

Memorandum, again raising hopes for progress in the
peace process. However, his delegation was concerned to
note that, despite the agreement, the Israeli Government
continuedtoviolatetherulesof international humanitarian
law in the occupied territories.

27. Theinternational community hopedthat I srael would
not disappoint the hopes of the Palestinian people and
other Arabs living in the occupied territories. In that
connection, the Special Committee should undoubtedly
continue its mandate until a definitive solution to the
guestion of Palestine had been achieved and the rights of
the Pal estinian peopleand other Arabswerefully realized.
Until peace was achieved in the Middle East, the Arabs,
inparticul ar thePal estinian people, could count ontheful |
support of the Cuban people.

28. Mr. Lamdan (Israel) said that the Special
Committee’s original mandate, adopted in 1968, only a
year and a half after the 1967 Six-Day War, had been a
product of itstime. It should berecalled that | srael had not
provokedthat war; it had not sought to sei zeterritoriesand
it had used forceonly in self-defence. After thewar, | srael
had unsuccessfully tried to reach peace agreements with
its Arab neighbours, but it had not been until 1991, a
quarter of a century later, that the current peace process
had been initiated in Madrid.

29. From the beginning, the Special Committee's
mandate had been so biased against Israel that all fair-
minded Stateshad voted against it or abstained. Currently,
as in the past, two of the three members of the Special
Committee came from countries that refused to establish
diplomatic relations with Israel, even though Israel
maintained full relations with some 90 per cent of the
States Members of the United Nations. Because the
proponents of the original 1968 resolution had sought not
dialogue, but diplomatic warfare, Israel had simply
refrained from cooperating with the Special Committee.

30. The Special Committee had alwaystaken anarrow-
minded approach, as was shown by its reports, which
hardly acknowledged that aserious peaceprocesshad been
under way in the Middle East for the past eight yearsand
that significant progress had been made towards the
resolution of along-standingterritorial conflict. Themost
recent report, inparticular, did not mentionthat I srael was
currently intheprocessof redeployingin 40 per cent of the
territories, that for the past three years 98 per cent of the
Palestinians living in the territories had been under the
control of the Palestinian Authority, that the territories
wereopen, that over 100,000 Pal estiniansworkedin| srael
every day, that aroad providing saf e passage between the

West Bank and the Gaza Strip would be opened the
following week, or that commercial and other agreements
had been concluded recently with the Palestinians.
Similarly, it provided no information on the ongoing
releases of Palestinian prisoners who had taken part in
attacks on innocent Israeli citizens or, indeed, on the fact
that, when I srael had regrettably been obliged to closethe
territoriesintherecent past, the causehadinvariably been
serious terrorist outrages in major cities, which had
continued even after the signing of the Wye River
Memorandum.

31. Thereport failed to note that the proportion of the
Jewish majority in Jerusalem had remained roughly the
same for the past two centuries and that, after 1948, the
Golan Heights had been a large military encampment of
130,000 Syrian soldiers and a very insignificant number
of Druzeinhabitantsliving dangerously closetolandmines
laid by their own military. Even more importantly, the
report did not mention that, on 4 September 1999, Israel
and the Palestinians had pledged to try to agree on the
principlesof apermanent settlement of outstandingissues
within five months, or that Israel’s Prime Minister had
promised to withdraw Israeli troops from L ebanon by the
following summer. The High Court had recently taken a
decision regarding the methods of interrogation of
suspected terrorists, and the Cabinet Committee on
Settlement Affairs had decided to eliminate unlawful
settlementsthat had sprung up after thesigning of theWye
River Memorandum.

32. Itwasthereforeclearthat the Special Committeedid
not serve any useful purpose and that its reports did not
advance the cause of peace. Instead, it meddled in affairs
that could only — andwould only — bedealt withindirect
negotiationsbetweenthepartiestotheconflict. Atbest, the
Special Committee was redundant; at worst, it was
harmful. Its existence discredited the Organization and
undermined its credibility in mattersrelated to the Arab-
Israeli dispute. For the sake of peace in the Middle East,
it should be disbanded.

33. Mr. Al-Hajri (Qatar) said that the inhuman Israeli
practices with regard to the Arab population might make
everyonerealize the danger posed by Israel’ sviolation of
all normsof international law, international humanrights
instruments, includingthefourth GenevaConvention, and
resolutions of the international community. At the recent
Conference of States parties to the fourth Geneva
Convention, it was emphasized that the provisions of the
Conventionwerefully applicableto Pal estinian and other
occupied Arab territories, including East Jerusalem, and
must be unswervingly observed.



A/C.4/54/SR.9

34. Fromthevery outset of the peace process, Qatar had
supported all efforts aimed at resolving the Middle East
conflict, and condemned all attempts to undermine that
process. Unfortunately, the practices which hampered the
peace process continued even under the current Israeli
Government. Continuation of that trend might put a
complete stop to the peace process. | srael should heed the
voice of the world community and cease violating the
human rightsof the Pal estinian people, asdescribedinthe
report under consideration.

35. New hopes had been awakened by the agreement
signed on 4 September 1999 in Sharm al-Sheikh. In that
connection, it was astonishing to notefrom areport inthe
mass media that a new law had been adopted in Israel
giving the settlers in the Syrian Arab Golan special
privileges connected with living and building new
settlementsinthat region. I srael must bear inmindthat the
continued building of new settlements might void the
negotiations of any substance and lead the peace process
into an impasse.

36. Mr. Fadaifard (Islamic Republic of Iran) said that
the facts set forth in the report of the Special Committee
(A/54/325) illustrated that the occupying Power was not
only committedtoitsown undertakingsbut al so constantly
sought toconsolidateitsoccupationthrough changesinthe
demographic composition of the occupied territories by
creating faitsaccomplis. That had been anintegral part of
Israel’s overall campaign to Judaize the occupied
territories by changing their legal status, character and
demographiccomposition. Unlawful policiesandinhuman
practi ceshad not only been directed agai nst theinhabitants
of the occupied territories but also been conducted to
perpetuate the status of 4 million Palestinians who lived
in refugee camps under precarious conditions.

37. The living conditions in the occupied territories
violated the fourth Geneva Convention, whose provisions
were applicable to all the occupied territories. However,
theoccupying Power ignored compl etely andintentional ly
not only United Nationsresol utionsbut al sothe consensus
opinion of theinternational community. It wasimperative
that the occupying Power should accept the applicability
of the fourth Geneva Convention to all the occupied
territories and fully implement its provisions. The
international community, for its part, should continue to
monitor the human rights situation in the occupied
territories. A comprehensive and just solution to the
guestion of Palestinelay intherestoration of all therights
of the Palestinian people, including the return of all
Palestinian refugees and displaced persons to their

homeland, the full and free exercise of their right to self-
determinationandtheliberation of all occupiedterritories.

38. Mr. Tekaya (Tunisia) said that his delegation had
taken note of the report of the Special Committee
(A/54/325), which confirmedthat theoccupying Power was
continuing its practices and thereby violating the human
rights of the Palestinian people and other Arabs. Those
practicesran counter tothespirit andletter of international
instruments, particularly the 1949 Geneva Convention
relative to the Protection of Civilian Personsin Time of
War, and also of resolutions of the United Nations. The
report setforthalarmingfactsconcerningthelsraeli policy
of colonization in the occupied Arab territories and the
Syrian Arab Golan, includingtheconfiscation of lands, the
building of settlements, the change in the status of
Jerusalem, and so on. In addition, the Israeli authorities
continued their oppression of Palestinian citizens. The
report indicated that the measures adopted by Israel had
serious consequences for the lives of the Palestinian and
Syrian population.

39. Tunisia wished to express its satisfaction at the
signing of the Sharm al- Sheikh memorandum andthestart
made onimplementing the WyeRiver Agreements. Inthat
connection, hestressedthenecessity that all partiesshould
fulfil their commitments. The measures taken to build
settlements contradicted the concept of peace. Herecalled
that the peace process was based on such principles as
“land for peace” andrespect for thecommitmentsmadein
the Agreements. Hehopedthat thenegotiationsonthefinal
statusof Jerusalemwould be successful and that therights
of the Pal estinian people, especially their right to establish
an independent State, would be fully realized. Tunisia
hopedthat thenegotiationswouldberesumedonall tracks,
includingthosewheremovement had stopped. | srael must,
pursuant to United Nations resolutions, fully and
unconditionally withdraw from South Lebanon and the
Syrian Arab Golan.

40. Ms. Nasser (Observer for Palestine), speaking in
exerciseof theright of reply, referred to certain comments
made by the delegation of Israel and also to the appealsto
curtail thework of the Special Committee. That Committee
had beenmandatedtoinvestigatethepoliciesand practices
of Israel until suchtimeasthelsraeli occupation had been
brought to an end. There was no question that the
occupationwascontinuing and that thehumanrightsof the
Palestinian people were, as in the past, being grossly
violated. Consequently, the Committee must continue its
work. Unfortunately, the peace process had not put an end
tothe occupation and to the other viol ationscommitted by
Israel. That process required far-reaching changesin the



A/C.4/54/SR.9

position not of the international community but of 1srael
itself, including its recognition of the applicability of the
fourth Geneva Convention, and also its cessation of all
work on the construction of settlements. In other words,
Israel must change its attitude towards the norms of
international law, and only thenwould peaceintheregion
become a reality. It was to be regretted that Israel had
falsified thefactsrelatingto Jerusalem. It waswell known
that thelsraeli policy with regard to Jerusalem over many
years had been aimed at changing its demographic
composition for the benefit of Israel. The Palestinian
territories, including Jerusalem, were still under
occupation. Israel’s affirmation that the majority of
Pal estinianswerenot living under conditionsof occupation
did not correspond to reality and testified to Israel’s
intention to establish a system of apartheid. That was
totally unacceptable and the occupation must be brought
to an end.

41. Mr. Mekdad (Syrian Arab Republic), speaking in
exerciseof theright of reply, said that the statement by the
representative of Israel was yet another attempt to
mi srepresent the facts and to confuse the Organization. It
wasal so an attempt to cast aspersi onson the conscientious
work done by the Special Committee.

42. As far as the Syrian Golan was concerned, its
demographic composition had always reflected the
compositionof Syriaasawhole. I srael had alwaysclaimed
that, whenthelsraelishad arrivedin Pal estine, it had been
unpopul ated; that wasnot true. After occupying Pal estine,
Israel was trying to perpetuate the occupation of Syrian
territory. Syrian Arabs in the Golan did not want to lose
their Arabidentity andrejected attemptsto maketheminto
Israelis. In addition, the I sraeli Government had referred
tothe Syrianmilitary presenceinthe Golan, but Syriahad
every right to deploy itsforcesonitsown territory, unlike
thelsraelis, who were deploying their forces outsidetheir
territory. Documents in the United Nations archives
showed that Israel had repeatedly committed acts of
aggression against Syria prior to June 1967.

43. Syriahad openedthedoor tothe peaceprocessinthe
Middle East and chosen peace as a strategy. However,
Israel was obstructing that processhby itspoliciesin Syria
and L ebanon. Thestatementsby thenew head of thel sraeli
Government beliedtheactual situationinthearea, ascould
be seen from reports in the mass media. In addition,
I srael’ sacts of aggression against southern Lebanonwere
on the increase. Israel would not be able to achieve the
peace which it sought by those means.

44. Lastly, therepresentativeof | srael had statedthat the
Special Committee’s reports discredited the United
Nations. Infact, thedeclineintheOrganization’ sauthority
was attributable not to the Special Committee but to those
whowereoccupyingother people’ slands, viol ating human
rights and adopting a policy of repression and terrorism.
Syriawas ready to resume the peace process at the point
at which it had been stalled and, if Israel really wanted
peace, it should follow suit.

45. Mr. Zaki (Egypt), referring to the time of the 1967
war, said that Israel’s statements were inaccurate. The
truth was that Israel had planned that war, which had
pursued a number of goals. In the case of Egypt, the goal
had been land for peace; in the case of Syria, it had been
control of a strategic military region; and in the case of
East Jerusalem, it had been to try once and for all to bury
the issue of Palestine and to annex its territory under
British mandate. Egypt regretted that Israel had forced it
to raise that issue, but it would repeat those explanations
each year, regardless of the status of the peace process.

46. Mr. Najem (Lebanon) said that his delegation had
every confidence in the Special Committee and favoured
the continuation of its work. He was surprised that the
representative of the occupying regime had paid no heed
to the critical comments of the international community
and the United Nations. That representative had asserted
that Israel was not practising repressing in Gaza and the
West Bank, or in East Jerusalem. In fact, a very real
occupation was occurring and an army was seizing other
peopl€ sland. Asregardssouthern L ebanon, theoccupiers’
policy there had changed: instead of deploying armed
forcesthere, they werecarryingout daily overflights, about
which details were given in the reports of the United
Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL). Thus
Lebanon wasstill occupied and it would actively struggle
until all itslands had been returned to it.

47. Mr. Lamdan (Israel), speaking in exercise of the
right of reply, saidthat intheir statementscertainmembers
of the Committee were ignoring the fact that at present
I srael, together with other countries, was participatingin
the peace process. Without wishing to embark on a
discussion of a historical character, he nevertheless
recalled that, as the Syrian representative himself had
stated, there had at onetime been 130,000 Syrian soldiers
in the Golan Heights, whose weapons had been aimed at
Israel. It should not be forgotten that it was Egyptian
President Nasser whoin 1967 had giventheUnited Nations
Emergency Force (UNEF) 24 hours to leave the Sinai
peninsula.



A/C.4/54/SR.9

48. Inhisview, the Special Committeewasbecoming an
anachronism, owingtotheone-sided natureof itsmandate.
The task of the Special Committee should be to ensure
respect for the human rights of the Pal estinian peopl e, but
it was still concerned only with the violation of the
Palestinians’ rights by Israel and paid no attention to the
Palestinian Authority’s approach to the observance of
human rights. According to article 19 of the 1994 Cairo
agreement, it was the Palestinian Authority which had
assumedresponsibility for guaranteeingtherightsof 98 per
cent of the Palestinians. The achievements of the
Pal estinian Authority in the area of the defence of human
rights were unfortunately highly questionable. In the
territory under its control, there were arbitrary arrests,
summary judicial procedures and virtually no freedom of
speech. Inthe preceding threeyears, dozens of inmates of
Pal estinian prisons had died while being interrogated. In
order toremainrelevant, the Special Committee must also
devote attention to cases of violations of human rights by
the Palestinian Authority.

49. Thework of the Special Committee had lost any real
significance, because in fact the fate of the peace process
would be decided at the direct negotiations between the
interested parties on the basis of Security Council
resolutions 242 (1967) and 338 (1973). He took the
opportunity tourgethe Syrian Arab Republicand L ebanon
to join those negotiations. The problem with the
implementation of Security Council resolution 245 (1968)
existed only because the L ebanese side did not want to sit
at the negotiating table with Israel. Asfar asthe “culture
of peace” was concerned, the Arab States and the
Pal estinian authoritieshad noright to speak of peaceat the
negotiating table at the same time as they were waging a
diplomatic war against I srael onvariouslevels, including
withinthe Special Committeeand other committeesof the
General Assembly.

50. Mr. Mekdad (Syrian Arab Republic), speaking in
exercise of theright of reply, said that his delegation was
unable to change its approach in the context of the work
of the Special Committee so long as Israel continued to
commit the same crimes and violations, despite the
ongoing peace process. That was quite clearly illustrated
by thefactsrelatedinthereport of the Special Committee.
Not only the Special Committee but also the mass media
throughout theworld werereporting the cruel repressions
of Arabs by lIsrael. There had been an error in the
interpretation of the statement by therepresentative of the
Syrian Arab Republic, which had led to a
misunderstanding: the reference had been to 130,000
civilians, not 130,000 soldiers. Apparently, instead of

confining himself to the facts, the representative of Israel
wastrying to use the mistake to further hisowninterests.
It was well known that, if it had not been for the actions
of the Israeli forces in the Arab territories, including
Pal estine, the Syrian Arab Republic would not have been
obliged in turn to use troops.

51. TheSpecial Committeehadtakenintoconsideration
all thefactsand circumstancesrelating tothe current turn
of events. However, the most important circumstance
remained unchanged: the continuing Israeli occupation.
Could it have been expected that the Special Committee
would announce that the occupation and violations of
human rights had ceased? Obviously it was only if that
occurredthat therepresentativeof Israel would approvethe
Special Committee’s conclusions and advocate the
continuation of its mandate. He again emphasized that
Syria was the party which had jump-started the peace
process, andthat waswell knowntotheentireinternational
community. His country expected the new Israeli
administration fully to comply with all the obligations
assumed by lIsrael in the context of the previous
negotiations. However, the Israeli administration was
hampering the devel opment of the peace processby laying
down preconditions. The Syrian Arab Republic again
emphasized that the concept of a*“culture of peace” was
incompatible with the continuation of the Israeli
occupati on, aggressi onand humanrightsviol ations. Peace
would not be established in the Middle East until Israel
departed from theterritories of the Syrian Arab Republic,
Pal estineand southern L ebanon, since peaceinoccupation
conditions was impossible.

52. Mr. Najem (Lebanon), speaking in exercise of the
right of reply, saidthat I srael must fulfil itsobligationsand
leave southern Lebanon without any preliminary
conditions. Despite its pro-peace statements, Israel was
continuingtoconduct military operationsagainst L ebanon,
including bombardment fromtheair and shellingfromthe
sea. Referring to Israel’ smilitary force, he said that force
was no guarantee of victory or of the attainment of peace
onfavourableterms. Only strict observanceof the Security
Council resolutionsreflecting thewill of theinternational
community could guarantee the achievement of genuine
peace in the Middle East.

53. Mr. Lamdan (Israel), speaking in exercise of the
right of reply, said that it would be inappropriate to
continue the argument.

54. The Chairman said that the Committee had thus
concluded its consideration of agendaitem 89.

The meeting rose at 12.55 p.m.



A/C.4/54/SR.9

10



